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SAFA Access for All RFP Official 

Q&A  Response Document 
Below are the responses to questions received for the Statewide Access Fund 
Administrator (SAFA) Access for All Request for Proposals (RFP) Cycle 5 Calendar Year 
(CY) 2026. The Deadline for RFP Questions (by 5 p.m. Pacific Time) is Wednesday, 
10/22/25. Responses to all questions will be released on the program website on 
10/29/25. 

 

The following document contains questions asked during the SAFA Webinar on 10/15/25.  

• To access the webinar PPT slides, click here: SAFA Webinar Slides 
• To access the webinar recording, click here: SAFA Webinar Recording 

 

SAFA Reminders:  

• NOVEMBER 12TH DEADLINE ALERT: Access Provider Applications are due by November 
12th, 2025 at 5 pm PST via the SAFA APP. 

• Please ensure that the applications are complete and contain all information required in the 
Request for Proposal. Applications submitted after this deadline, or submitted through 
email, will not be accepted.   

• Click here to register/submit your Access Provider Application:  CPUC SAFA Program 
Submission Manager 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Have Questions? 
Contact us at accessforall@cpucsafa.org. 

https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Webinar-Presentation-10.15.25.pdf
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=enMgZ-PhH88&feature=youtu.be
https://cpucsafaprogram.submittable.com/submit
https://cpucsafaprogram.submittable.com/submit
mailto:accessforall@cpucsafa.org
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For additional information, please visit our website at www.cpucsafa.org. 
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SAFA Prospective Access Provider Webinar 
 

County Coverage 
Question Answer 

1. Can you submit an application to 
serve a portion of a county or does it 
have to be the entire county? 

Yes, you can submit an application to serve a 
portion of a county. Please select the county 
that you intend to serve when completing the 
application. 

2. Do you have an estimate of how many 
providers will win an award to cover 
all counties?  Do you envision 
multiple awards for individual 
counties, particularly the larger 
ones? 

We don't have an estimate on how many 
access providers will be selected for each 
county, but there can be multiple. There is no 
guarantee that only one access provider will be 
selected per county.  
Yes, we do. If there are multiple applicants that 
meet the requirements of the RFP, then we 
anticipate multiple awards. 

3. On the topic of multiple awards per 
county- Is there a possibility that a 
provider would only be partially 
awarded? Or is the award amount 
always going to match the requested 
amount? For example, if we 
applied/requested all the funds for 
Yolo ($225,640), but we aren’t the 
only applicants, is there a chance we 
would be awarded a smaller amount? 
 

Yes, there is a possibility that a provider could 
be partially awarded because multiple 
applicants were selected and approved in the 
same county. If this happens, we may reach 
out to the applicants and discuss the proposed 
project scope and budget. 

4. Can funding be used for regional 
trips? E.g. the trip origin is in the 
County where funding was awarded / 
program is offered, but the trip 
destination may be in a neighboring 
county. 

Yes, funding can be used for regional trips. 
However, the funding used must be from where 
the trip originated. For example, if a ride 
originates in Alameda County, but ends in San 
Francisco, Alameda County funding must be 
used, even though the trip ends in San 
Francisco. And vice versa, you cannot use 
Alameda funds to pay for a trip that starts in 
San Francisco and ends in Alameda County. 

5. Even if it is serving an Alameda 
Resident coming back from S.F.? 
(Follow up to Question #4. 
 

 

In this case, residency of the rider does not 
apply to the funding. The funding is based on 
the county where the trip originates.  
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6. We will submit one application per 
county. Can we reference a common 
statewide operating model and then 
attach county-specific budgets  

                 and KPIs? 

Yes, as long as you appropriately scale the 
service towards each county you are applying 
for and the budget. 

7. How are multi-county applicants 
evaluated if economies of scale (e.g., 
pooled WAV supply, centralized 
dispatch) improve response times 
and coverage? 
 

 

Please review Section 8: Scoring Criteria & 
Rubric on the RFP: https://cpucsafa.org/wp-
content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-
All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf 
 

8. How will the awards be granted by 
service area? Will there be one 
evaluation process and committee 
across the state or separate 
evaluation processes by county? 
 

Applications will be reviewed by an evaluation 
panel of 3 members, and they will review all 
applications coming through. There is no 
separate evaluation process by county. 

9. Other than origin based location are 
there any other 
restrictions/parameters for this 
service based on distance or cost? 

 

There are no restrictions on distance. For cost, 
please limit to what funding is available for the 
county you are applying to. See breakdown 
here: https://cpucsafa.org/wp-
content/uploads/2025/09/SAFA-Counties-
Funding-Availability-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf 

              
 
 
 
 
         

  

https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/09/SAFA-Counties-Funding-Availability-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/09/SAFA-Counties-Funding-Availability-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/09/SAFA-Counties-Funding-Availability-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf
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Grant Period 
Question Answer 

1. What is the grant period if awarded? The grant period is for Calendar Year 2026, 
which is from January 1, 2026, to December 
31, 2026. 

2. Award is executed on March 31. 2026, 
but does the grant period begin then 
or on July 1, 2026? 

No, the grant period is for Calendar Year 2026, 
which is from January 1, 2026, to December 
31, 2026. 

3. What will the budget be beyond the 
first year of this project? 

The budget will be determined by CPUC based 
on coverage needs. 
 

4. Will the funding period end in 
December 2025, or will it extend one 
year from the date the contract is 
executed in 2026? (This question 
refers to Section 7 regarding start and 
end dates.) 

The funding period for Cycle 5 is Calendar Year 
2026, which is January 1, 2026, to December 
31, 2026. The start and end dates should be 
between these dates. 
 

 

Funding 
Question Answer 

1. Can you advise on how long the 
funding has been accruing for each 
County? 
 

The funding for the Statewide Access for All 
Program has been accruing since 2019. 

2. Do you expect funding beyond 2026? The Access for All Program was recently 
extended to 2032. We anticipate that there will 
be funding beyond 2026. 

3. Please confirm that Access Funds 
cannot be used for trips already 
compensated by a TNC (e.g., 
Uber/Lyft) and advise the preferred 
method to demonstrate separation of 
funding streams. 

 Lyft and Uber are eligible for trips that are 
already compensated only if they’ve met 
exemption standards (higher standards) in a 
county. CPUC will need to verify the county 
Uber and Lyft is seeking additional 
compensation for.   

4. After CPUC approval, how are funds 
disbursed, advance, milestone, or 
reimbursement? What 
documentation is required for 
drawdowns? 

Please review the SAFA Access Provider 
Information webpage here: 
https://cpucsafa.org/ap_info/. Then, go down 
to "Funding Agreements" and review 
Attachment C: Invoice Instructions & 
Template". It will be a monthly invoice 
reimbursement based on an approved budget 
and scope. In addition, Access Providers will 
need to provide quarterly reports, which you 
can find in Attachment D: Quarterly Report 
Instructions & Templates. 

https://cpucsafa.org/ap_info/


SAFA Access for All RFP Cycle 5 CY 2026 
 
 

  

6 

5. Will partial awards be issued if 
requests exceed county allocations, 
and how should we prioritize scope in 
that case? 

Yes, if we receive multiple applications per 
county and determine that we will be awarding 
multiple applicants, then we will discuss this 
with each party during the selection period. 
 

6. For fleet strategy, can funds support 
per-ride WAV subsidies or leases 
with local partners instead of 
purchasing vehicles directly?   

Yes. 
 

7. May the lead applicant reimburse or 
sub-grant partner operators for 
eligible costs (vehicles, operations, 
maintenance) provided expenditures 
are tracked and reported? 

Yes. 
 
 

8. For indirect costs, does SAFA allow a 
flat rate (e.g., percentage of direct 
costs) or require detailed 
itemization? 

Yes, flat rate for indirect costs is allowable. 

9. Is there a maximum allocation or 
preferred ratio between vehicle 
procurement/lease costs and other 
eligible expenses? 

No. 
 

10. The Cycle 5 funding available is for 
calendar year 2026. Does this mean 
that projects that are funded can bill 
for WAV service operations provided 
prior to the funding agreement 
execution on 3/30/2026? Or are 
allowable expenses only 
reimbursable after the agreement is 
executed? 

No, costs for work performed prior to GCAP 
issuing a Funding Agreement to selected 
Access Providers are considered ineligible 
expenses and will not be reimbursed. 
 

 

Application 
Question Answer 

1. Did I hear correctly that even if we 
are already registered with the CPUC 
as a TNC, we also have to register 
with CHP for a Motor Vehicle Carrier 
License as well? 
 

No, if an Access Provider already holds a 
CPUC-issued permit, then you do not have to 
register with CHP. 

2. Our community members who use 
wheelchairs have requested both on-
demand service as well as same-day 
pre-booked (say ride requested at 
10am for a pick up at 11:30am). Can 
we submit an application for a 

Yes, you can submit an application for blended 
on-demand and same-day, pre-booked 
service. 
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blended on-demand and same- day 
pre-booked service? 

3. What if a company is a broker? 
 

There are certain eligibility requirements for 
Access Providers. Eligible applicants must 
directly provide, or contract with a separate 
organization or entity to provide, on-demand 
WAV transportation to meet the needs of 
persons with disabilities. Access Providers 
either include 1) Transportation Carriers that 
hold a Commission-issue permit or 2) A non-
permitted transportation carrier that can 
provide: background checks, insurance, 
controlled substance and alcohol testing, 
Secretary of State registration, and a Motor 
Carrier Profile with CHP. If the company is a 
broker and can provide this information, then 
yes, they are eligible to become an Access 
Provider. However, you may also want to 
consider the reporting requirements after the 
Access Provider is selected to see if the 
broker's company is able to provide the data 
and information required by the CPUC. 
 

4. Can we contract a company that 
provides WAV and gurney rides and 
include vouchers for this as well as 
staff that will coordinate those rides 
and promote the program? 

 

Yes, eligible applicants must directly provide, 
or contract with a separate organization or 
entity to provide, on-demand WAV 
transportation to meet the needs of persons 
with disabilities. Please be sure to explain this 
in detail in your project description narrative. 
Additionally, please review Section 4: Eligibility 
in the RFP for additional information. 
 

5. Do applicants have to be doing 
business as a corporation or can sole 
proprietors apply as well, if sole 
props they are not registered with the 
Sec. of State that does disqualify 
them? 
 

An organization or entity who is applying as a 
non-permitted transportation carrier must 
meet the provided specific documentation. 
One of these requirements is that the 
organization must be registered with the 
California Secretary of State. Unfortunately, 
sole proprietors are unable to apply to become 
an Access Provider. 
 

https://nam04.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Furldefense.com%2Fv3%2F__https%3A%2F%2Fcpucsafa.org%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2025%2F10%2FSAFA-Access-for-All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf__%3B!!LFxIGwQ!zemNlBOR6E2V4BUZ7iAX-D5f7-VbFepzRUXLAQ4iBqk0v9PucDMfr3gXsV6eFg078z-D_NbVLgsI06FWGVOpuBw3MdWs%24&data=05%7C02%7Cvmarquez%40gcapservices.com%7Ceee323c71eb549c1903108de0fffa75b%7Ca9e760722de243f6bc5bb9ef1a2cfbfa%7C0%7C0%7C638965788209679362%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=uN6MJOrDNwEQQKo0qO%2BJ%2F0OYjxjPV7OFOAqZD1PeeBY%3D&reserved=0
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6. Does a program HAVE to be on 
demand? Or like, if Catholic Charities 
or United Cerebral Palsy applies to 
expand or their day programs or 
services, would those be eligible? 

Per the definition provided in the SAFA 
Request for Proposals on pg. 5, on-demand 
transportation refers to “a transportation 
service that does not follow a fixed route or 
schedule and the provider can fulfill trip 
requests within twelve hours.” If the 
organizations you mentioned have a 
wheelchair accessible vehicle (WAV) service 
that aligns with this definition, then they can 
apply and be considered for this SAFA Access 
for All funding opportunity. 

7. Can you apply as a non-permitted 
carrier if we document background 
checks, insurance, drug/alcohol 
testing, SOS registration, and CHP 
Motor Carrier Profile that meet or 
exceed TNC requirements? 

Yes. Please review Section 4: Eligibility in the 
RFP: https://cpucsafa.org/wp-
content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-
All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf 
 

8. What audit documentation (financial 
and program) should we maintain 
throughout the 12-month period to 
ensure readiness for CPUC/SAFA 
reviews? 

Please review Section 5: Progress Reporting 
Requirements on the RFP: 
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-
content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-
All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf 
 

9. Is there a limit on the number of 
characters or pages to be uploaded 
where text or inserts are required? 

No, there is no limit to the number of 
characters or pages to be uploaded where text 
or inserts are required. 
 

10. For questions 5 through 7, we 
assume the report uploads 
requested are for the current AFA 
period. The reports are issued 
quarterly; does this mean the most 
recent quarter? Can we add other 
reports from prior periods? 

Yes, please use the data in your most recent 
quarter. If you want to include reports from 
prior periods, please feel free to do so. 
 

11. Could GCAP possibly provide a list of 
the participants from the call held on 
Oct 15, 2025? 

Please see the list of attendees from the 
webinar held on 10/15/25: 
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-
content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Prospective-
Applicant-Webinar-Attendance.pdf 

12. Is there a way to work on more than 
one submittal at a time, or do we 
need to submit a final and move to 
the next submittal if submitting for 
more than one County? 

Unfortunately, you will need to submit one 
application for each county at a time. Another 
workaround would be if someone else from 
your organization can start an application for a 
different county. 

13. Please clarify how eligibility of 
service is determined and verified. 

Please review Section 4: Eligibility in the RFP: 
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-

https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Prospective-Applicant-Webinar-Attendance.pdf
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Prospective-Applicant-Webinar-Attendance.pdf
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Prospective-Applicant-Webinar-Attendance.pdf
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf
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content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-
All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf. 

14. Will SAFA provide a standard 
reporting template or data schema, 
or may applicants propose an 
equivalent format consistent with 
CPUC definitions? 

Access Providers will need to use specific 
reporting templates as required by the CPUC. 
Please see information under "Application 
Instructions & Reporting Templates": 
https://www.cpuc.ca.gov/regulatory-
services/licensing/transportation-licensing-
and-analysis-branch/transportation-network-
companies/tnc-access-for-all-program/tnc---
access-for-all-program-access-provider.  

15. Are there any DBE goals for this 
project? And if yes, does a vendor 
need to be DBE certified in California 
to submit an application? 

There are no DBE goals for this project. This is a 
state-funded grant program. 

16. Would SAFA please extend the 
submission deadline to allow 
vendors to prepare more detailed and 
informed proposals given the 
numerous counties involved in this 
effort? 

No, the SAFA cannot extend the deadline 
further than the November 12th due date. 
Applicants will need to submit all materials by 
that deadline in order to be considered. 
 

17. May an applicant deliver on-demand 
WAV service through partnerships 
with licensed operators (holding 
TCP/CPUC permits) while managing 
technology, dispatch, and reporting 
internally? 

Yes. 

18. In such a structure, should the lead 
applicant be the permit-holding 
operator, or can a coordinating entity 
serve as applicant if all required 
safety and insurance documentation 
from operating partners is included? 

 Yes, it could be either.  

19. Does SAFA permit a joint or 
consortium application under one 
submission per county (e.g., lead 
applicant with multiple 
transportation partners)? 

Yes. 
 

20. For applicants intending to serve 
more than one county, can one 
organizational profile be used in the 
portal, or must a separate 
application account be created for 
each county? 

You can have all applications in one account. 
However, you will need to submit each county 
one at a time and are unable to have multiple 
draft submissions for each county. 
 

21. May applicants use automated trip-
level data exports from their 
operating systems to satisfy 

The data and information will need to be in the 
templates provided by CPUC. Please see 
information under "Application Instructions & 

https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf
https://www.cpuc.ca.gov/regulatory-services/licensing/transportation-licensing-and-analysis-branch/transportation-network-companies/tnc-access-for-all-program/tnc---access-for-all-program-access-provider
https://www.cpuc.ca.gov/regulatory-services/licensing/transportation-licensing-and-analysis-branch/transportation-network-companies/tnc-access-for-all-program/tnc---access-for-all-program-access-provider
https://www.cpuc.ca.gov/regulatory-services/licensing/transportation-licensing-and-analysis-branch/transportation-network-companies/tnc-access-for-all-program/tnc---access-for-all-program-access-provider
https://www.cpuc.ca.gov/regulatory-services/licensing/transportation-licensing-and-analysis-branch/transportation-network-companies/tnc-access-for-all-program/tnc---access-for-all-program-access-provider
https://www.cpuc.ca.gov/regulatory-services/licensing/transportation-licensing-and-analysis-branch/transportation-network-companies/tnc-access-for-all-program/tnc---access-for-all-program-access-provider
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quarterly reporting requirements 
(availability, response times, trip 
outcomes)? 

Reporting Templates": 
https://www.cpuc.ca.gov/regulatory-
services/licensing/transportation-licensing-
and-analysis-branch/transportation-network-
companies/tnc-access-for-all-program/tnc---
access-for-all-program-access-provider.  

22. How will improvements in rural or 
suburban coverage be evaluated, 
e.g., by total WAVs deployed, trip 
request fulfillment rate, or response-
time reduction? 

Please review Section 5: Progress Reporting 
Requirements > Data to Report on the RFP: 
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-
content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-
All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf 
 

23. Are there any county-specific 
community outreach or stakeholder 
engagement requirements that must 
be demonstrated in the proposal? 

Please review Section 8: Scoring Criteria & 
Rubric pg. 21 for Evidence of Outreach Efforts 
on the RFP: https://cpucsafa.org/wp-
content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-
All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf 

24. Would SAFA consider a coordinated 
pilot covering two adjacent counties 
if funding and reporting are tracked 
separately for each? 

Yes, but you will need to submit 2 applications 
for each county. 

25. Are there any preferences for local 
providers? 

No, all applicants are evaluated on the same 
scale. 
 

26. Section 4. Access Provider 
Application -Opening Paragraph 
 
Is any current data available for WAV 
metrics in the four counties for both 
"response times for WAV service 
compared to the previous year and/or 
status quo in that county; the 
presence and availability of WAVs 
within the geographic area."?  
  
The section reads - Section 4: Access 
Provider Application Opening 
paragraph- "At a minimum Access 
Providers need to demonstrate in 
their application how the proposed 
partnership will improve the 
following: response times for WAV 
service compared to the previous 
year and/or status quo in that county; 
the presence and availability of WAVs 
within the geographic area; and the 
effort undertaken to publicize and 

You can view the analysis of WAV performance 
data submitted by TNCs in the CPUC’s 2024 
Access for All Benchmark Report here. Stay 
tuned for future reports which will be posted 
here. 
 

https://www.cpuc.ca.gov/regulatory-services/licensing/transportation-licensing-and-analysis-branch/transportation-network-companies/tnc-access-for-all-program/tnc---access-for-all-program-access-provider
https://www.cpuc.ca.gov/regulatory-services/licensing/transportation-licensing-and-analysis-branch/transportation-network-companies/tnc-access-for-all-program/tnc---access-for-all-program-access-provider
https://www.cpuc.ca.gov/regulatory-services/licensing/transportation-licensing-and-analysis-branch/transportation-network-companies/tnc-access-for-all-program/tnc---access-for-all-program-access-provider
https://www.cpuc.ca.gov/regulatory-services/licensing/transportation-licensing-and-analysis-branch/transportation-network-companies/tnc-access-for-all-program/tnc---access-for-all-program-access-provider
https://www.cpuc.ca.gov/regulatory-services/licensing/transportation-licensing-and-analysis-branch/transportation-network-companies/tnc-access-for-all-program/tnc---access-for-all-program-access-provider
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf
https://www.cpuc.ca.gov/-/media/cpuc-website/divisions/consumer-protection-and-enforcement-division/documents/tlab/accessforall/2024-tnc-access-for-all-annual-benchmark-report.pdf
https://www.cpuc.ca.gov/regulatory-services/licensing/transportation-licensing-and-analysis-branch/transportation-network-companies/tnc-access-for-all-program
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promote available WAV service to 
disability communities. "  
  
I noted in Riverside there are a 
number of entities who state they 
provide WAV service and would like 
to find out if any data has been 
collected.(Dial-a-Ride, Riverside 
Connect, UBER WAV etc.) 

27. The City is submitting the application 
for the Cycle 5 SAFA Access Provider 
Application since we manage the 
contract for on-demand WAV service 
in our area. I am assuming that we 
would check non-TNC under the 
“Type of Provider” since the City is 
not a TNC (even though the entity that 
we contract with is a TNC). Is this 
correct? 

Yes, the City would mark "non-TNC" under 
"Type of Provider" 

28. Under Section 3 and Section 5, I am 
assuming that the City (as the SAFA 
applicant) is certifying that the City’s 
contracted WAV service provider 
meets the requirements stated. Is 
this correct? 

Yes, the applicant will need to ensure that any 
contracted WAV provider(s) meets the 
requirements listed in the Request for Proposal 
in order to be considered eligible for 
consideration. 

29. Our program is very new, and we can 
provide service performance data as 
requested. However, since the 
service is very new, it might be 
difficult to provide specifics on 
proposed improvements, such as 
response times, etc. Are there 
additional types of data we can 
provide for the application evaluation 
that could show the potential 
impacts for our same-day WAV 
service? 

Please provide the requested performance 
data that you can, but you may also provide 
additional items such as outreach plans and 
data projections to supplement data. 
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Vehicles 
Question Answer 

1. Are we able to use Uber/Lyft for any 
ambulatory trips? 
 

This question needs more context. The Access 
for All Program is focused on Wheelchair 
Accessible Vehicle (WAV) services. 

2. Do all vehicles in service need to be 
WAVs? 

Yes, all vehicles in service need to be WAVs. 
 

3. How many WAVS trips are gurney trips? 
(Bedbound patients) 

We unfortunately do not have this data 
available. 
 

4. Some people are in gurneys and need to 
travel in them to non-emergency 
medical transport so need specialized 
transport that goes beyond WAV. Are we 
able to include that in our grant? 
 

Yes, you can include this in your proposal if the 
main service you will provide will be WAV 
services. 
 

5. For companion drivers using their own 
vehicles, are they eligible to provide 
trips if their vehicles meet ADA/WAV 
inspection standards and insurance 
thresholds? 

 

Yes. 
 

6. If we partner with local wheelchair 
transportation companies for WAV 
coverage when needed, must those 
partners also submit safety 
declarations, or is documentation via 
our prime contract sufficient? 

Yes, those partners would also need to submit 
safety declarations. 
 

7. Beyond the published rubric, are there 
benchmark expectations for response 
times (e.g., median or 80th percentile 
targets) we should plan against? 

 

 No. 

8. Will SAFA provide standardized 
templates for the quarterly metrics 
(WAV availability by hour/day, 
completed/not accepted/cancelled 
categories, response-time deciles, 
complaints by type, driver training 
certifications, ADA vehicle inspections, 
etc.)? 

 

Yes. Please review Section 5: Progress 
Reporting Requirements on the RFP: 
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-
content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-
All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf 
 

9. For subcontracted WAV providers, do 
we report their metrics under our 
umbrella, or do they report separately 
in the SAFA APP? 

The metrics for any subcontracted WAV 
providers should be reported under your 
metrics, but do not combine the data-identify 

https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf
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which metrics belong to you and which belong 
to each of the subcontractors. 
 

10. Will applicants need to submit baseline 
data on current WAV operations for 
comparison, and if so, what time period 
should be used? 

Yes. Please provide the baseline data you 
currently have for existing WAV operations, 
using up to the most recent four quarters of 
available information. If you do not have any 
existing WAV operations, then you do not need 
to provide this data. 

11. Would virtual ADA/WAV training 
programs with certification records 
meet driver-training compliance 
requirements? 

Yes. 

12. Must specific vehicles or VINs be 
identified in the application, or can 
fleet details be finalized after award 
execution? 

No, specific vehicles or VINs do not need to be 
identified in the application; those details can 
be finalized after award. 
 

13. Are permits and insurance documents 
required for each operating partner at 
the application stage, or can 
attestations be provided with 
documentation post-award? 

Documents are not required with the 
application, but we may request them post 
award. 
 

14. In regards to the definition of on 
demand transportation provided, 
stating that “the provider can fulfill trip 
requests within twelve hours,” we are 
interested to know if this would apply 
outside of service hours? For example, 
we operate a service Mon-Fri 8:30am-
5:30pm. If a client were to call during 
service hours, the trip would be fulfilled 
within 15-30 minutes. However, if the 
client were to call after 5:30pm, looking 
to book a ride for the following morning, 
the trip request would not be fulfilled 
until 8:30am the following morning. 
Would this program be eligible under 
the definition of on-demand 
transportation? 

Yes, this program will be eligible. 

 

 

Expenses 
Question Answer 



SAFA Access for All RFP Cycle 5 CY 2026 
 
 

  

14 

1. Confirming that we can purchase a 
van through this program and include 
costs to maintain it? 

Yes, part of the approved eligible expenses are 
vehicle costs. You can submit this anticipated 
expense as part of your application. 
 

2. And that we can include a dispatcher, 
driver, and other staff directly 
involved, but not indirect staff. 

Yes, any operational costs and administrative 
staff who are completing work directly 
mentioned in your proposal are considered an 
eligible cost. Payments to indirect staff are not 
considered eligible costs. 
 

3. How about software cost? 
 

Yes, software costs (e.g. app development) for 
providing on-demand WAV services are an 
eligible expense.  
 

4. On the topic of regional trips- I 
understand that they must originate 
in the County of award but are 
allowed to drop-off in a nearby 
county and still be considered an 
eligible trip. What about the 
time/distance it takes for that 
trip/driver to deadhead back to the 
originating county? Is it safe to 
assume that the associated 
deadhead expenses are also going to 
be covered as an eligible operating 
expense (for the vehicle to return to 
its county of origin)? 
 

Yes, paying for deadheading is appropriate. 

5. May we use funds for driver                 
recruitment, training (including 
disability sensitivity and 
securement), background checks, 
and technology integrations 
(dispatch, open API, SMS booking, 
reporting)? 

Please review Section 4: Eligibility > Eligible 
Expenses on the RFP: https://cpucsafa.org/wp-
content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-
All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf 
 

6. Are marketing, community outreach, 
rider education, and call-center 
operations eligible under operational 
costs? 

Yes, please review Section 4: Eligibility > 
Eligible Expenses on the RFP: 
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-
content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-
All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf 
 

7. Are indirect/administrative costs 
allowable if proposed in the budget, 
and is there a recommended or 
maximum rate? 

Yes, please review Section 4: Eligibility on the 
RFP: https://cpucsafa.org/wp-
content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-
All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf 
 

https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf
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8. Are technology system costs 
(dispatch software, call center 
platform, rider/driver apps, data 
dashboards) considered eligible 
under “technology/engineering 
services”? 

 

Yes. 
 

9. Can costs for driver recruiting, 
onboarding, and training programs be 
included as eligible for project 
expenses? 

 

Yes. Please review Section 4: Eligibility > 
Eligible Expenses in the RFP: 
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-
content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-
All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf  
 

 

https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf
https://cpucsafa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/SAFA-Access-for-All-Final-RFP-Cycle-5-CY-2026.pdf

